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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors

Ayala Land, Inc.

31st Floor, Tower One and Exchange Plaza, Ayala Triangle
Ayala Avenue, Makati City

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Ayala Land, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and
2020, and the consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2021 and
2020 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 are prepared in all material
respects, in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), as modified by the
application of the financial reporting reliefs issued and approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared are in accordance with PFRSs, as modified by the application of the
financial reporting reliefs issued and approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of the application of the financial reporting reliefs on the 2021 consolidated
financial statements are discussed in detail in Note 2. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Real Estate Revenue Recognition

The Group’s revenue recognition process, policies and procedures are significant to our audit because these
involve the application of significant judgment and estimation on the following: (1) assessment of the probability
that the entity will collect the consideration from the buyer; (2) application of the output method as the measure
of progress in determining real estate revenue; (3) determination of the actual costs incurred as cost of sales;
and (4) recognition of cost to obtain a contract.

In evaluating whether collectability of the amount of consideration is probable, the Group considers the
significance of the buyer’s initial payments (buyer’s equity) in relation to the total contract price. Collectability is
also assessed by considering factors such as past history with buyers, age of residential and office
development receivables and pricing of the property. Management regularly evaluates the historical sales
cancellations and back-outs, after considering the impact of coronavirus pandemic, if it would still support its
current threshold of buyers’ equity before commencing revenue recognition.

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output method. This
method measures progress based on physical proportion of work done on the real estate project which requires
technical determination by the Group’s specialists (project engineers). This is based on the monthly project
accomplishment report prepared by the third party surveyor as approved by the construction manager which
integrates the surveys of performance to date of the construction activities for both sub-contracted and those
that are fulfilled by the Group itself.

In determining the actual costs incurred to be recognized as cost of sales, the Group estimates costs incurred
on materials, labor and overhead which have not yet been billed by the contractor.

The Group identifies sales commission after contract inception as the cost of obtaining the contract. For
contracts which qualified for revenue recognition, the Group capitalizes the total sales commission due to sales
agent as cost to obtain contract and recognizes the related commission payable. The Group uses percentage
of completion (POC) method in amortizing sales commission consistent with the Group’s revenue recognition

policy.

In 2021, the Group adopted the provisions of PFRS 15 covered by Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC)
Q&A 2018-12-E on the treatment of land in the calculation of POC. The Group applied the modified
retrospective approach decreasing the beginning retained earnings and non-controlling interests by

P2.84 billion and P16 million, respectively.

The disclosures related to real estate revenue are included in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s real estate revenue recognition process, policies and
procedures.

For the buyers’ equity, we evaluated management’s basis of the buyer’s equity by comparing this to the
historical analysis of sales cancellations from buyers with accumulated payments above the collection
threshold. We also considered the impact of the coronavirus pandemic to the level of cancellations during the
year. We traced the analysis to supporting documents such as deed of cancellations.
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For the application of the output method, in determining real estate revenue, we obtained an understanding of
the Group’s processes for determining the POC, and performed tests of the relevant controls. We obtained the
certified POC reports prepared by the project engineers and assessed their competence and objectivity by
reference to their qualifications, experience and reporting responsibilities. For selected projects, we conducted
ocular inspections, made relevant inquiries, including inquiries on how the coronavirus pandemic affected the
POC during the period and obtained the supporting details of POC reports showing the completion of the major
activities of project construction.

For the cost of real estate sales, we obtained an understanding of the Group’s cost accumulation process and
performed tests of the relevant controls. For selected projects, we traced costs accumulated, including those
incurred but not yet billed, to supporting documents such as invoices and accomplishment reports from the
contractors and official receipts.

For the recognition of cost to obtain a contract, we obtained an understanding of the sales commission
process. For selected contracts, we agreed the basis for calculating the sales commission capitalized and the
portion recognized in profit or loss, particularly the following: (a) the percentage of commission due against
contracts with sales agents, (b) the total commissionable amount (i.e., net contract price) against the related
contract to sell, and, (c) the POC against the POC used in recognizing the related revenue from real estate
sales.

On the adoption of PIC Q&A 2018-12-E, we obtained and reviewed the computation and supporting documents
consisting primarily of the reserves memo, contracts, billings and incurred costs. We recomputed the impact of
the change in POC.

Impairment Testing of Property and Equipment and Right-of-Use Assets of Hotels and Resorts
Segment

In view of the continuing community quarantines and restricted travel, the Group’s hotels and resorts segment
continues to be adversely affected by the lower number of guests and reduced room rates, both of which have
significantly impacted the revenues reported for this segment. Also, many restaurants remain closed or
allowed limited operations which impacted the food and beverage revenues of the segment. These events and
conditions are impairment indicators requiring the assessment of the recoverable amount of the property and
equipment and right-of-use assets, which involves significant judgment, estimation and assumptions about
occupancy rates, average room rates, gross margin, as well as external inputs such as discount rates. In
addition, because of the coronavirus pandemic, there is the heightened level of uncertainty on the future
economic outlook and market forecast. Accordingly, such impairment assessment and testing is a key audit
matter in our audit.

The disclosures in relation to property and equipment and right-of-use assets are included in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We involved our internal specialist in evaluating the methodologies and the assumptions used in estimating the
recoverable amount. These assumptions include occupancy rates, average room rates, gross margin as well
as external inputs such as discount rate. We compared the key assumptions used such as occupancy rates,
average room rates and gross margin against industry forecasts and with historical information, adjusted to
take into consideration the impact associated with the coronavirus pandemic. We tested the discount rate by
comparing against market data. We also reviewed the Group’s disclosures about these assumptions to which
the outcome of the impairment test is most sensitive; specifically, those that have the most significant effect on
the determination of the recoverable amount of property and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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Consolidation Process

The consolidated financial statements of the Group represents the consolidation of the financial statements of
Ayala Land, Inc. and its various direct and indirect subsidiaries. We consider the Group’s consolidation
process as a key audit matter because of the complexity arising from the numerous component entities within
the Group requiring layers of consolidation, voluminous intercompany transactions within the Group that require
elimination, monitoring of fair value adjustments arising from business combinations, and adjustments to non-
controlling interests. Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements provides the relevant information on the
Group’s subsidiaries.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s consolidation process and the Group’s process for identifying
related parties and related party transactions and the reconciliation of intercompany balances. We tested
significant consolidation adjustments, including elimination, deferral and realization of profit or recoveries from
intercompany transactions and balances, amortization/depreciation/reversal of fair value adjustments arising
from business combinations, the currency translation adjustments, movements in non-controlling interests and
other equity adjustments. We evaluated whether the accounting policies of the Group has been consistently
applied.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2021, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2021 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with PFRSs, as modified by the application of financial reporting relief issued and approved by the
SEC as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in accordance with PFRSs, as modified by the application of financial reporting relief issued
and approved by the SEC as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Michael C. Sabado.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Michael C. Sabado
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 89336
Tax Identification No. 160-302-865
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 2024
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 0664-AR-4 (Group A)
November 11, 2019, valid until November 10, 2022
SEC Firm Accreditation No. 0001-SEC (Group A)
Valid to cover audit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-073-2020, December 3, 2020, valid until December 2, 2023
PTR No. 8854360, January 3, 2022, Makati City

February 24, 2022
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in Thousands)

December 31

2021 2020
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 29) R13,971,437 P17,037,347
Short-term investments (Notes 5 and 29) 325,641 358,120
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Notes 6 and 29) 700,803 965,171
Accounts and notes receivable (Notes 7 and 29) 100,097,451 101,145,909
Inventories (Note 8) 148,156,725 146,743,592
Other current assets (Note 9) 65,300,897 58,020,962
Total Current Assets 328,552,954 324,271,101
Noncurrent Assets
Noncurrent accounts and notes receivable (Notes 7 and 29) 43,663,620 46,021,255
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) (Notes 10 and 29) 981,270 1,511,443
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Note 11) 28,152,733 26,601,254
Right-of-use assets (Note 33) 12,156,240 13,008,175
Investment properties (Note 12) 243,397,632 222,684,850
Property and equipment (Note 13) 41,778,353 43,446,968
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 23) 12,890,122 12,121,515
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 14 and 26) 33,891,439 31,827,813
Total Noncurrent Assets 416,911,409 397,223,273
R745,464,363 P721,494,374
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Short-term debt (Notes 16 and 29) R16,782,500 P9,131,325
Accounts and other payables (Notes 15 and 29) 136,690,396 144,625,922
Income tax payable 506,638 1,455,612
Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 33) 599,363 466,801
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 16 and 29) 26,173,997 18,732,401
Deposits and other current liabilities (Notes 17 and 29) 27,471,315 25,317,246
Total Current Liabilities 208,224,209 199,729,307
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Notes 16 and 29) 180,140,242 184,087,192
Pension liabilities (Note 26) 2,103,735 3,020,797
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Note 33) 17,237,991 17,289,042
Deferred tax liabilities - net (Note 23) 6,520,263 7,148,534
Deposits and other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 18 and 29) 60,735,602 50,040,170
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 266,737,833 261,585,735
Total Liabilities 474,962,042 461,315,042

(Forward)



December 31

2021 2020
Equity (Note 19)
Equity attributable to equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc.
Paid-in capital R79,897,468 P62,953,585
Retained earnings 168,980,632 161,660,724
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plans (Note 26) (33,279) (818,101)
Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI (Note 10) (880,895) (748,220)
Cumulative translation adjustments 261,612 167,395
Equity reserves (Note 1) 1,289,611 585,256
Treasury stock (16,894,380) (1,260,780)
232,620,769 222,539,859
Non-controlling interests (Note 19) 37,881,552 37,639,473
Total Equity 270,502,321 260,179,332
R745,464,363 P721,494,374

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Earnings Per Share Figures)

Years Ended December 31

2021 2020 2019
REVENUE (Note 20)
Real estate sales (Notes 20 and 30) R96,144,850 P85,965,453 P157,848,573
Interest income from real estate sales (Notes 7 and 20) 6,801,012 8,602,775 7,890,972
Equity in net earnings of associates and
joint ventures (Notes 11 and 20) 842,565 586,502 965,787
103,788,427 95,154,730 166,705,332
Interest and investment income (Notes 6, 21 and 25) 253,107 394,701 930,445
Other income (Notes 21 and 24) 2,101,071 723,268 1,157,935
2,354,178 1,117,969 2,088,380
106,142,605 96,272,699 168,793,712
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sales (Note 22) 64,641,519 56,673,184 94,751,939
General and administrative expenses
(Notes 22, 26 and 28) 6,538,859 8,011,813 9,367,359
Interest and other financing charges (Note 22) 11,037,772 12,745,720 12,199,758
Other expenses (Note 22) 3,636,915 3,788,771 1,644,982
85,855,065 81,219,488 117,964,038
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 20,287,540 15,053,211 50,829,674
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME
TAX (Note 23)
Current 5,984,642 4,687,956 12,455,010
Deferred (1,356,465) (628,983) 859,633
4,628,177 4,058,973 13,314,643
NET INCOME R15,659,363 P10,994,238 P37,515,031
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc. (Note 27) R12,228,148 P8,727,155 P33,188,399
Non-controlling interests 3,431,215 2,267,083 4,326,632

R15,659,363 P10,994,238 P37,515,031

Earnings Per Share (Note 27)
Net income attributable to equity holders of Ayala Land,
Inc.:
Basic and diluted R0.83 P0.59 R2.25

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2021 2020 2019
NET INCOME R15,659,363 P10,994,238 P37,515,031
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years:
Cumulative translation adjustment 265,284 (237,531) (617,831)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years:
Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI
(Note 10) (97,378) (426,088) (3,220)
Remeasurement gain (loss) on pension liabilities
(Note 26) 1,099,585 (686,987) (167,754)
Income tax effect (274,896) 206,096 50,326
992,595 (1,144,510) (738,479)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME R16,651,958 P9,849,728 P36,776,552
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc. R13,049,676 RP7,872,357 P32,449,920
Non-controlling interests 3,602,282 1,977,371 4,326,632
R16,651,958 P9,849,728 P36,776,552

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Amounts in Thousands)

Attributable to equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc.

Remeasurem
ent Fair value
Unappropriat Gain (Loss) reserve of Cumulative
Additional Appropriated ed Stock on Defined financial Translation
Paid-in Subscription Retained Retained Options Benefit assets at Adjustment Equity Treasury Non-
Capital Stock Capital s Earnings Earnings Outstandin Plans FVOCI s Reserves Stocks Controlling

(Note 19) (Note 19) Receivable (Note 19) (Note 19) g (Note 26) (Note 10) (Note 19) (Note 19) (Note 19) Total Interests Total Equity
As of January 1, 2021, as previously stated P16,066,829 P49,149,512  (P2,262,756) 8,000,000 PR153,660,724 R— (R818,101) (R748,220) R167,395 R585,256  (R1,260,780) P222,539,859 R37,639,473 PR260,179,332
Change in accounting policies:
Adoption of PFRS 15 covered by PIC Q&A 2018-12E - - - - (2,838,041) - - - - - - (2,838,041) (16,298)  (2,854,339)
Capitalized borrowing cost - - - - 1,993,029 - - - - - - 1,993,029 - 1,993,029
As of January 1, 2021, as restated 16,066,829 49,149,512 (2,262,756) 8,000,000 152,815,712 - (818,101) (748,220) 167,395 585,256 (1,260,780) 219,701,818 37,623,175 257,324,993
Net income - - - - 12,228,148 - - - - - - 12,228,148 3,431,215 15,659,363
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - - - 824,689 (97,378) 94,217 - - 821,528 171,067 992,595
Total comprehensive income - - - - 12,228,148 - 824,689 (97,378) 94,217 - - 13,049,676 3,602,282 16,651,958
Appropriation of retained earnings - - - 17,000,000 (17,000,000) - - - - - - - - -
Cost of stock options - 150,072 - - - - - - - - - 150,072 - 150,072
Collection of subscription receivable - - 324,725 - - - - - - - - 324,725 - 324,725
Stock options exercised 11,389 335,219 (346,608) - - - - - - - - - - -
Statutory merger 609,626 15,859,460 (39,867) (35,297) (276,774) (13,976,965) 2,140,183 (2,140,183) -
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - - (1,656,635) (1,656,635) - (1,656,635)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - 981,129 - 981,129 - 981,129
Net change in non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - - - 553,837 553,837
Cash dividends declared - - - —  (4,063,228) - - - - - - (4,063,228)  (1,757,559)  (5,820,787)
As of December 31, 2021 P16,687,844 P65,494,263  (P2,284,639) P25,000,000 P143,980,632 R— (P33,279) (P880,895)  P261,612 £1,289,611 (P16,894,380) P232,620,769 P37,881,552 P270,502,321
As of January 1, 2020 P16,051,984 P48,598,641 (P1,878,179) P8,000,000 P148,940,236 P42,279 (P337,210) (P457,358) P250,440 (P7,056,459) (P1,104,353) P211,050,021 P31,655,547 P242,705,568
Net income - - - - 8,727,155 - - - - - - 8,727,155 2,267,083 10,994,238
Other comprehensive loss - - - - - - (480,891) (290,862) (83,045) - - (854,798) (289,712)  (1,144,510)
Total comprehensive income - - - - 8,727,155 - (480,891) (290,862) (83,045) - - 7,872,357 1,977,371 9,849,728
Cost of stock options - 154,199 - - - (42,279) - - - - - 111,920 - 111,920
Collection of subscription receivable - - 26,940 - - - - - - - - 26,940 - 26,940
Stock options exercised 14,845 396,672 (411,517) - - - - - - - - - - -
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - - (156,427) (156,427) - (156,427)
Disposal of non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - 7,641,715 - 7,641,715 - 7,641,715
Increase in non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,937,740 4,937,740
Cash dividends declared - - - - (4,006,667) - - - - - - (4,006,667) (931,185)  (4,937,852)
As of December 31, 2020 P16,066,829 P49,149,512  (P2,262,756)  P8,000,000 P153,660,724 P— (P818,101) (P748,220) P167,395 P585,256  (P1,260,780) P222,539,859 P37,639,473 P260,179,332

(Forward)



Attributable to equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc.

Remeasurement
Gain (Loss) Fair value
Additional Appropriated Unappropriated on Defined reserve of Cumulative
Paid-in Retained Retained Stock Benefit financial assets Translation Equity Treasury Non-
Capital Stock Capital Subscriptions Earnings Earnings Options Plans at FVOCI Adjustments Reserves Stocks Controlling
(Note 19) (Note 19) Receivable (Note 19) (Note 19) QOutstanding (Note 26) (Note 10) (Note 19) (Note 19) (Note 19) Total Interests Total Equity
As of January 1, 2019 P16,041,530 P47,985,990 (P1,676,556) P8,000,000 P123,473,337 P65,462 (P219,782) (P454,138) P868,271 (P7,400,945) P- P186,683,169 P32,621,997 P219,305,166
Net income - - - - 33,188,399 - - - - - - 33,188,399 4,326,632 37,515,031
Other comprehensive loss - - - - - - (117,428) (3,220) (617,831) - - (738,479) - (738,479)
Total comprehensive income - - - - 33,188,399 - (117,428) (3,220)) (617,831) - - 32,449,920 4,326,632 36,776,552
Cost of stock options - 166,039 - - - (23,183) - - - - - 142,856 - 142,856
Collection of subscription receivable - - 255,443 - - - - - - - - 255,443 - 255,443
Stock options exercised 10,454 446,612 (457,066) - - - - - - - - - - -
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - - (1,104,353) (1,104,353) - (1,104,353)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 344,486 - 344,486 (3,991,324) (3,646,838)
Cash dividends declared - - - - (7,721,500) - - - - - - (7,721,500) (1,301,758) (9,023,258)
As of December 31, 2019 P16,051,984 P48,598,641 (P1,878,179) P8,000,000 P148,940,236 P42,279 (P337,210) (P457,358) P250,440 (P7,056,459)  (P1,104,353) P211,050,021 P31,655,547 P242,705,568

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2021 2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax R20,287,540 P15,053,211 PB50,829,674
Adjustments for:
Interest and other financing charges (Note 22) 11,037,772 12,745,720 12,199,758
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 12, 13, 14, 22
and 33) 8,820,507 9,572,572 9,058,710
Dividends received from investees (Note 11) 321,617 758,714 386,241
Provision for impairment losses (Note 22) 539,692 977,849 568,775
Cost of share-based payments (Note 28) 150,072 111,920 142,856
Unrealized (gain) loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (Note 6) (99,372) 40,116 1,965
Gain on sale of property and equipment (Note 21) - (23,265) (40,870)
Equity in net earnings of associates and joint
ventures (Note 11) (842,565) (586,502) (965,787)
Gain on sale of investment in associates and jointly
controlled entities (Note 11) (807,618) - -
Interest income (7,054,119) (8,971,289) (8,780,320)
Operating income before changes in working capital 32,353,526 29,679,046 63,401,002
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts and notes receivable — trade 251,492 683,154 14,849,682
Inventories (Note 8) (1,459,729) (10,253,170) (5,315,783)
Other current assets (Note 9) (7,279,935) (8,477,188) (4,520,502)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts and other payables (7,690,011) (16,164,090) (15,725,408)
Deposits and other current liabilities (Note 17) 2,154,067 (155,341) (3,071,965)
Pension liabilities (Note 26) (92,362) 346,206 319,979
Cash generated from operations 18,237,048 (4,341,383) 49,937,005
Interest received 7,008,224 8,925,394 8,768,302
Income tax paid (6,933,615) (5,355,723)  (11,683,232)
Interest paid (10,385,580) (11,735,785) (11,009,836)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 7,926,077 (12,507,497) 36,012,239
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:
Sale/redemption of short-term investments 41,160 397,875 2,490,543
Sale/redemption of financial assets at FVTPL 1,168,987 1,917,237 765,763
Sale of investments in FVOCI (Note 10) - 21,112 56,858
Disposal of property and equipment (Note 13) 483,360 161,997 124,832
Disposal of investment properties (Note 12) 294,149 2,203,774 3,669,275
Disposal of investments in associates and jointly
controlled entities 807,618 326,602 -

(Forward)



Years Ended December 31

2021 2020 2019
Additions to:

Short-term investments (P8,680) (P138,846) (P22,293)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (805,248) (2,437,088) (776,919)

Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 10) - (98,951) (93,463)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Note 11) (778,748) (1,837,901) (1,529,688)

Investment properties (Note 12) (22,030,868) (5,544,790) (29,215,224)

Property and equipment (Note 13) (3,215,492) (3,098,436) (10,519,576)
Net decrease (increase) in:

Accounts and notes receivable - nontrade (Note 7) (12,981) 2,046,114 (564,222)

Other noncurrent assets (Note 14) (2,171,784) 2,865,904 (6,957,950)
Net cash used in investing activities (26,228,527) (3,215,397) (42,572,063)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short and long-term debt (Note 16) 191,282,758 226,900,910 165,401,684
Payments of short and long-term debt (Note 16) (180,536,836) (225,720,204) (140,675,538)
Payments of principal portion of lease liability (Note 33) (1,432,361) (1,334,674) (1,179,645)
Increase (decrease) in deposits and other noncurrent

liabilities 10,695,432 5,706,022 (6,241,773)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 19) 1,534,967 - (3,646,838)
Increase in non-controlling interests - 235,994 -
Proceeds from IPO sponsorship (Note 19) - 12,343,461 -
Proceeds from capital stock subscriptions (Note 19) 324,724 26,940 255,443
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 19) (1,656,635) (156,427) (1,104,353)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,324,396) (931,185) (1,301,758)
Dividends paid to equity holders of Ayala Land, Inc.

(Note 19) (4,051,013) (4,397,061) (7,754,047)
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,836,640 12,673,776 3,753,175
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,465,810) (3,049,118) (2,806,649)
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN CURRENCY 399,900 (326,576) (776,880)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF YEAR 17,037,347 20,413,041 23,996,570
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END

OF YEAR (Note 4) R13,971,437 P17,037,347 P20,413,041

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Ayala Land, Inc. (the Parent Company or ALI) is domiciled and was incorporated on June 30, 1988 in
the Republic of the Philippines with corporate life of fifty years. The Parent Company’s parent is Ayala
Corporation (AC). AC is a publicly listed company which is 47.87%-owned by Mermac, Inc. and the
rest by the public as of December 31, 2021. The Parent Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is 31st Floor, Tower One and Exchange Plaza, Ayala Triangle, Ayala Avenue,
Makati City.

The Parent Company and its Subsidiaries (the Group) are incorporated to hold, develop, manage,
administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal in and dispose of, for
itself or for others, residential including, but not limited to, all kinds of housing projects, commercial,
industrial, urban or other kinds of real property; to acquire, purchase, hold, manage, develop and sell
subdivision lots, with or without buildings or improvements; to erect, construct, alter, manage,
operate, lease, in whole or in part, buildings and tenements of the Group or of other persons; and to
engage or act as real estate broker. The Group is also involved in hotels and resorts operations.

The consolidated financial statements of Ayala Land, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 were endorsed for
approval by the Audit Committee on February 18, 2022 and were approved and authorized for issue

by the Board of Directors (BOD) on February 24, 2022.

The consolidated financial statements represent the consolidation of the financial statements of the
Parent Company and the following domestic and foreign subsidiaries:
December 31

2021* 2020*
Real Estate:

Alveo Land Corporation (Alveo) 100% 100%
Serendra, Inc. 39 39
Solinea, Inc. (Solinea) 65 65
BGSouth Properties, Inc. (BGSouth) 50 50
Portico Land Corp. (Portico) 60 60

Serendra, Inc. 28 28

Amorsedia Development Corporation (ADC) 100 100
OLC Development Corporation and Subsidiary 100 100
HLC Development Corporation 100 100
Allysonia International Ltd. 100 100

Avida Land Corporation (Avida) 100 100
Buklod Bahayan Realty and Development Corp. 100 100
Avida Sales Corp. 100 100
Amicassa Process Solutions, Inc. 100 100
Avencosouth Corp. (Avencosouth) 70 70
BGNorth Properties, Inc. (BGNorth) 50 50

Amaia Land Co. (Amaia) 100 100
Amaia Southern Properties, Inc. (ASPI) 65 65

AyalalLand Premier, Inc. 100 100

Ayala Land International Sales, Inc. (ALISI) 100 100
Ayala Land International Marketing, Inc. (AIMI) 100 100
Ayala Land International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd 100 100
Ayala Land International Marketing (Hong Kong) Ltd 100 100
Ayala Land International Marketing, SRL (ALIM SRL) 100 100

Ayala Land International Marketing London 100 100



December 31

2021* 2020*
Ayala Land Sales, Inc. 100% 100%
Southportal Properties, Inc. (Southportal) 100 65
Buendia Landholdings, Inc. 100 100
Crans Montana Holdings, Inc. 100 100
Crimson Field Enterprises, Inc. 100 100
Ecoholdings Company, Inc. (ECI) 100 100
NorthBeacon Commercial Corporation (NBCC) 100 100
Red Creek Properties, Inc. 100 100
Regent Time International, Limited (Regent Time) (British Virgin 100 100
Islands)
North Eastern Commercial Corp. (NECC) 100 100
Westview Commercial Ventures Corp. (Westview) 100 100
North Ventures Commercial Corporation 100 100
Hillsford Property Corporation (Hillsford) 100 100
Primavera Towncentre, Inc. (PTI) 100 100
Summerhill E-Office Corporation (Summerhill) 100 100
Sunnyfield E-Office Corporation (Sunnyfield) 100 100
Subic Bay Town Centre, Inc. (SBTCI) 100 100
Regent Wise Investments Limited (Regent Wise) 100 100
(Hongkong company)
AyalalLand Real Estate Investments Inc. (Canada) 100 100
AyalalLand Advisory Broadway Inc. (Canada) 100 100
AyalalLand Development (Canada) Inc. 100 100
AyalaLand OpenAsia Holdings PTE, Ltd (Singapore) 100 100
Blue Horizons Holdings PTE, Ltd (Singapore) 100 100
Modular Construction Technology (MCT) Bhd. (Malaysia) 66 66
AREIT Fund Manager, Inc. (formerly AyalaLand Commercial REIT, 100 100
Inc. (ALCRI))
Arvo Commercial Corporation (Arvo) 100 100
BellaVita Land Corporation (BellaVita) 100 100
Nuevo Centro, Inc. (Nuevo Centro) 54 54
Alviera Country Club, Inc. (Alviera) 50 50
Cavite Commercial Town Center, Inc. (CCTCI) 100 100
AREIT, Inc. (formerly One Dela Rosa Property Development, Inc.) 66 54
AyalaLand Offices, Inc. (ALO) 100 100
First Gateway Real Estate Corp. 100 100
Glensworth Development, Inc. (Glensworth) 100 100
UP North Property Holdings, Inc. 100 100
ALO Prime Realty Corporation 100 100
Makati Cornerstone Leasing Corp. (MCLC) 100 100
Arca South Commercial Ventures Corp. (ASCVC) - 100
Capitol Central Commercial Ventures Corp. 100 100
Bay City Commercial Venture Corp. (BCCVC) 100 100
Aurora Properties Incorporated 81 81
Soltea Commercial Corp. 16 16
Vesta Property Holdings, Inc. (VPHI) 78 78
Altaraza Prime Realty Corporation 100 100
Altaraza Development Corporation 51 51
Prow Holdings, Inc. 55 55
Station Square East Commercial Corporation (SSECC) 69 69
AREIT Property Managers, Inc. (formerly Next Urban Alliance 100 100
Development Corp.)
Accendo Commercial Corp. (Accendo) 67 67
Avencosouth Corp. 20 20
Aviana Development Corporation 7 7

Aviana Development Corporation 50 50



December 31

2021* 2020*
Cagayan de Oro Gateway Corp. (CDOGC) 70% 70%
Ceci Realty, Inc. (Ceci) 60 60
Soltea Commercial Corp. 12 12
Soltea Commercial Corp. 60 60
CMPI Holdings, Inc. 60 60
CMPI Land, Inc. - 36
ALI-Cll Development Corporation (ALI-ClI) 50 50
Roxas Land Corporation (RLC) 50 50
Adauge Commercial Corporation (Adauge) 60 60
AyalalLand Estates, Inc 100 100
Ayalaland MetroNorth, Inc. (AMNI) 100 100
Verde Golf Development Corp. 100 100
North Triangle Depot Commercial Corporation (NTDCC) 73 73
Ayalaland-Tagle Properties, Inc. 55 -
BGWest Properties, Inc. (BGW) 50 50
Lagdigan Land Corp. (Lagdigan) 60 60
Central Block Developers, Inc. (CBDI) - 45
Central Bloc Hotel Ventures, Inc. - 45
Central Bloc Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Cebu Holdings, Inc. (CHI) - 71
Cebu Leisure Company, Inc. - 71
CBP Theatre Management Inc. - 71
Taft Punta Engafio Property Inc. (TPEPI) - 39
Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc. (CIHCI) - 26
Solinea, Inc. - 25
Amaia Southern Properties, Inc. (ASPI) - 25
Southportal Properties, Inc. (Southportal) - 25
Central Block Developers, Inc. (CBDI) - 39
Asian |-Office Properties. Inc. (AIOPI) - 71
Cebu Leisure Company, Inc. 100 -
CBP Theatre Management Inc. 100 -
Taft Punta Engafio Property Inc. (TPEPI) 55 -
Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc. (CIHCI) 37 -
Solinea, Inc. 35 -
Amaia Southern Properties, Inc. (ASPI) 35 -
Alabang Commercial Corporation (ACC) 50 50
South Innovative Theater Management (SITMI) 50 50
ALI Commercial Center, Inc. 100 100
AMC Japan Concepts, Inc. 75 75
AyalalLand Logistics Holdings Corp. (ALLHC) (formerly Prime Orion 71 71
Philippines, Inc.)
Orion Solutions, Inc. 71 71
Orion | Holdings Philippines, Inc. 71 71
OE Holdings, Inc. 71 71
Orion Land, Inc. 71 71
Lepanto Ceramics, Inc. 71 71
Laguna Technopark, Inc. and Subsidiary 71 68
Unity Realty & Development Corp. (URDC) 71 71
FLT Prime Insurance Corporation 56 56
Ayalaland Malls Synergies, Inc. 100 100
Ayalaland Malls, Inc. (formerly Solerte, Inc.) 100 100
Ayalaland Malls Vismin, Inc. 100 100

Ayalaland Malls NorthEast, Inc. 100 100



December 31

2021* 2020*
Construction:

Makati Development Corporation (MDC) 100% 100%
MDC Subic, Inc. 100 100
MDC Build Plus, Inc. 100 100
MDC Congrete, Inc. (MCI) 100 100
MDC Equipment Solutions, Inc. (MESI) 100 100
MDBI Construction Corp. 67 67

Hotels and Resorts:

Ayala Hotels, Inc. (AHI) 50 50

AyalaLand Hotels and Resorts Corporation (AHRC)
and Subsidiaries 100 100
ALI Makati Hotel & Residences, Inc. 80 80
ALI Makati Hotel Property, Inc. 80 80
Regent Horizons Conservation Company, Inc. 100 100
Enjay Hotels, Inc. (Enjay) 100 100
Greenhaven Property Venture, Inc. (GPVI) 100 100
Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc. (CIHCI) 63 63
Bonifacio Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Southcrest Hotel Ventures, Inc. 67 67
Northgate Hotel Ventures, Inc. 70 70
North Triangle Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Ecosouth Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Sentera Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Econorth Resorts Ventures, Inc. 100 100
ALl Triangle Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Circuit Makati Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Capitol Central Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Arca South Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Sicogon Town Hotel, Inc. 100 100
Bay Area Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
Makati North Hotel Ventures, Inc. (MNHVI) 100 100
One Makati Hotel Ventures, Inc. (OMHVI) 100 100
Sicogon Island Tourism Estate Corp. (SITE Corp.) 100 100
Asiatown Hotel Ventures, Inc. 100 100
One Makati Residential Ventures, Inc. 100 100

ALI Makati Hotels & Residences, Inc. 20 20

ALI Makati Hotel Property, Inc. 20 20

Ten Knots Phils., Inc. (TKPI) 60 60
Bacuit Bay Development Corporation 60 60
Lio Resort Ventures, Inc. 60 60
North Liberty Resort Ventures, Inc. 60 60
Paragua Eco-Resort Ventures, Inc. 60 60
Lio Tourism Estate Management Corporation 60 60

Ten Knots Development, Corp. (TKDC) 60 60
Chirica Resorts Corp. 60 60
Kingfisher Capital Resources Corp. 60 60
Pangulasian Island Resort Corporation 60 60

Integrated Eco-resort Inc. 100 100

Property Management:

Ayala Property Management Corporation (APMC) 100 100
Prime Support Services, Inc. 100 100

Ayala Theatres Management, Inc. (ATMI) and Subsidiaries 100 100

DirectPower Services, Inc. (DirectPower) 100 100

Philippine Integrated Energy Solutions, Inc. (PhilEnergy) 100 100

Entertainment:
Five Star Cinema, Inc. 100 100

Leisure and Allied Industries Philippines, Inc. (LAIP) 50 50



December 31

2021* 2020*
Others:
ALlnet.com, Inc. (ALInet) 100% 100%
First Longfield Investments Limited (First Longfield) (Hongkong 100 100

Company)

Green Horizons Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries 100 100
Aprisa Business Process Solutions, Inc. (Aprisa) 100 100
AyalalLand Club Management, Inc. 100 100
ALI Capital Corp. (formerly Varejo Corp.) (ALICap) 100 100

Airswift Transport, Inc. (formerly Island Transvoyager, Inc.)

(Airswift) 100 100

Swift Aerodrome Services, Inc. (SASI) 100 100
Integrated Eco-resort, Inc. 100 100
Arca South Integrated Terminal, Inc. (ASITI) 100 100
Whiteknight Holdings, Inc. 100 100
Ayalaland Medical Facilities Leasing, Inc. 100 100
Anvaya Cove Beach and Nature Club, Inc. (Anvaya Cove
Beach) 73 73
Anvaya Cove Golf and Sports Club, Inc. (Anvaya Cove
Golf) 76 76

*represents the Group’s percentage and effective ownership

The above companies are domiciled in the Philippines except for the foreign entities which are
domiciled and incorporated in the country as mentioned above.

AC owns the other 50.0% of AHI. The Parent Company exercises control over AHI. Likewise, the
Parent Company, through its 50.0% effective ownership and by virtue of a management contract or
shareholders’ agreement, exercises control over the operations and management of ACC, BGWest,
BGNorth, BGSouth, RLC, ALI-CII and LAIP. Accordingly, the accounts of AHI, ACC, BGWest,
BGNorth, BGSouth, RLC, ALI-CII and LAIP are consolidated to the accounts of the Parent Company
(see Note 3).

The following were the changes in the group structure during 2021:

On March 16, 2021, AREIT’s Board of Directors approved the increase of its authorized capital stock
from P11,740 million to P29,500 million and the subscription of ALI and its subsidiaries to
483,254,375 primary common shares of AREIT in exchange for identified commercial properties
valued at P15,464 million.

On October 8, 2021, Ayala Land, Inc. and AREIT, Inc. received the approval from the SEC of the
property-for-share swap, specifically the subscription of ALI and its subsidiaries namely, Westview
Commercial Ventures Corp. and Glensworth Development, Inc. (collectively referred to as
Subsidiaries) to 483,254,375 shares of AREIT in exchange for identified properties owned by ALI and
the Subsidiaries, under the Deed of Exchange dated June 8, 2021. This resulted in ALI’s interest in
AREIT from 54% to 66%.

Ayalaland-Tagle Properties, Inc. was incorporated with the SEC on August 27, 2021. The Company is
55% owned by ALI, 35% owned by Griffinstone, Inc. and 10% owned by CTM Management Corp.
The primary purpose of the Company is to deal and engage in land or real estate business in all its
branches and ramifications.

On December 16, 2021, the SEC approved the merger of CHI, AiO, ASCVC and CBDI with and into

ALLI, with ALI as the surviving entity (the “Merger”). ALI shall be the surviving entity in the Merger and
shall possess all the rights, privileges and immunities of CHI, AiO, ASCVC and CBDI (the “Absorbed

Corporations”), and all properties and liabilities, and all and every other interest of or belonging to the
Absorbed Corporations shall be taken and deemed transferred to ALl without further act or deed.
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As a result of the above merger, ALI's direct ownership on the seven companies also increased
namely Southportal Properties, Inc. (from 85% to 100%), Cebu Leisure Company, Inc. (from 71% to
100%), CBP Theatre Management Inc. (from 71% to 100%), Taft Punta Engafio Property Inc. (from
39% to 55%), Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc. (from 26% to 37%), Solinea, Inc (from 25% to 35%),
Amaia Southern Properties, Inc. (from 25% to 35%).

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost
basis, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) that have been measured at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (R), which is also the Parent
Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (P000), except
when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous
period. While there are recent signs of increased market activity with the easing of quarantine
measures in key areas in the Philippines, management believes that the impact of COVID-19
situation remains fluid and evolving and the pace of recovery remains uncertain.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), as modified by the application of the financial reporting relief
on the accounting for significant financing components as issued and approved by the SEC in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group has availed of the relief granted by the SEC under Memorandum Circular (MC) No. 34-
2020 which further extended the deferral of PIC Q&A 2018-12-D (assessment if the transaction price
includes a significant financing component) until December 31, 2023.

SEC MC No. 4-2020 deferring the adoption of IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfers of
Constructed Goods under PAS 23, Borrowing Cost (the IFRIC Agenda Decision on Borrowing Cost)
and is not applicable to the Group as is it is already in full compliance with the requirements of the
IFRIC Agenda Decision.

The details and the impact of the adoption of the above financial reporting reliefs are discussed in the
Adoption of New and Amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations section of Note 2.

PFRSs include Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC).

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2021.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee and has the ability to affect that return through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

e Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee),

o Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

e The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

e The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

¢ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

e The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included or excluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date the
Group gains control or until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests pertain to the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly to
the Parent Company. Any equity instruments issued by a subsidiary that are not owned by the Parent
Company are non-controlling interests including preferred shares and options under share-based
transactions. The portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not wholly-owned are
presented separately in the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
financial position, separately from the Parent Company’s equity. Non-controlling interests are net of
any outstanding subscription receivable.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction and recognized as equity reserves in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

o Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity.

e Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received, the fair value of any investment retained
and any surplus or deficit in profit or loss.

¢ Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Changes in Accounting Policies
e Adoption of PIC Q&A 2018-12-E

In 2021, the Group adopted the provision of PFRS 15 covered by PIC Q&A 2018-12-E on the
treatment of land in the calculation of POC. The Group applied the modified retrospective
approach to recognize the impact of the change with a reduction in the beginning retained
earnings by P2,838 million and beginning NCI of P16.3 million (see Note 19).

e Capitalization of borrowing costs in property and equipment and investment properties

In 2021, the Group started capitalizing borrowing costs to its property and equipment and
investment properties under construction. The Group recognized the impact of the change
against the beginning retained earnings in 2021 amounting to P1,993 million. The impact to the
comparative accounts and amounts are increase in noncurrent assets and equity, and net income
by P635 million and B354 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The changes above did not have any significant impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group.
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Adoption of New and Amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following new
accounting pronouncements which became effective January 1, 2021. The Group has not early
adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendment to PFRS 16, COVID-19-related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The amendment provides relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease
modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. A
lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if
it meets all of the following criteria:

o The rent concession is a direct consequence of COVID-19;

o The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding the change;

o Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before June 30,
2022; and

o There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee that applies this practical expedient will account for any change in lease payments
resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a
change that is not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021.
Early adoption is permitted.

This amendment is not applicable to the Group as there are no rent concessions granted to the
Group as a lessee.

Amendments to PFRS 9, PAS 39, PFRS 7, PFRS 4 and PFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

The amendments provide the following temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting
effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free
interest rate (RFR):

o Practical expedient for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a
result of IBOR reform

o Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships

o Relief from the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a
hedge of a risk component

The Group shall also disclose information about:

o The nature and extent of risks to which the entity is exposed arising from financial instruments
subject to IBOR reform, and how the entity manages those risks; and

o Their progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity
is managing that transition

The Group adopted the amendments beginning January 1, 2021.
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Adoption of PIC Q&A 2018-14, Accounting for Cancellation of Real Estate Sales (as amended by
PIC Q&A 2020-05)

On June 27, 2018, PIC Q&A 2018-14 was issued providing guidance on accounting for
cancellation of real estate sales. Under SEC MC No. 3-2019, the adoption of PIC Q&A No. 2018-
14 was deferred until December 31, 2020. After the deferral period, real estate companies will
adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-14 and any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the
SEC will later prescribe.

On November 11, 2020, PIC Q&A 2020-05 was issued which supersedes PIC Q&A 2018-14. This
PIC Q&A adds a new approach where the cancellation is accounted for as a modification of the
contract (i.e., from non-cancellable to being cancellable). Under this approach, revenues and
related costs previously recognized shall be reversed in the period of cancellation and the
inventory shall be reinstated at cost. PIC Q&A 2020-05 will have to be applied prospectively from
approval date of the Financial Reporting Standards Council which was November 11, 2020.

The adoption of this PIC Q&A did not impact the consolidated financial statements of the Group
since it has previously adopted approach 3 in its accounting for sales cancellation which
records the repossessed inventory at cost.

Standards Issued but not yet Effective

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group

does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on

its consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements when
they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2022

Amendments to PFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments added an exception to the recognition principle of PFRS 3,
Business Combinations to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or Philippine-IFRIC 21, Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the amendments add a new paragraph to PFRS 3 to clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022
and apply prospectively.

Amendments to PAS 16 , Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing
those items, in profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022
and must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the
amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a
contract is onerous or loss-making. The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”.
The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental
costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after

January 1, 2022. The Group will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
o Amendments to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippines Financial Reporting Standards,
Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of PFRS 1 to
measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based
on the parent’s date of transition to PFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or
joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of PFRS 1.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group.

o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, Fees in the '10 per cent’ test for
derecognition of financial liabilities

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged
on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The Group will apply the amendments to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group.

o Amendments to PAS 41, Agriculture, Taxation in fair value measurements

The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of PAS 41 that entities exclude
cash flows for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of PAS 41.

An entity applies the amendment prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with
earlier adoption permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group.
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2023

Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax
purposes, it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such
deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the financial statements
(and interest expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense).

An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented for annual reporting periods on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates and clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and

the correction of errors. Also, the amendments clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate
of a change in an input or a change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting
estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior period errors.

An entity applies the amendments to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier adoption permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful by:

* Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies
with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies, and

+ Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions
about accounting policy disclosures

The amendments to the Practice Statement provide non-mandatory guidance. Meanwhile, the
amendments to PAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Early application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments are not expected
to have a material impact on the Group.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024

Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify paragraphs 69 to 76 of PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, to

specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments

clarify:

o What is meant by a right to defer settlement

o That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

o That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

o That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification
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The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
and must be applied retrospectively. However, in November 2021, the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) tentatively decided to defer the effective date to no earlier than January
1, 2024. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025

PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type
of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with
discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is
more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a
comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core
of PFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:

» A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee
approach)
» A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

On December 15, 2021, the FRSC amended the mandatory effective date of PFRS 17 from
January 1, 2023 to January 1, 2025. This is consistent with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by
the Insurance Commission which deferred the implementation of PFRS 17 by two (2) years after
its effective date as decided by the IASB.

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with
comparative figures required. Early application is permitted.

The new standard is not applicable to the Group since none of the entities within the Group have
activities that are predominantly connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts.

Deferred Effectivity

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint
venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or
contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective
date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may
result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting
for associates and joint ventures.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these amendments.
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Deferral of Certain Provisions of PIC Q&A 2018-12, PFRS 15 Implementation Issues Affecting the
Real Estate Industry (as amended by PIC Q&As 2020-02 and 2020-04)

On February 14, 2018, the PIC issued PIC Q&A 2018-12 which provides guidance on some
PFRS 15 implementation issues affecting the real estate industry. On October 25, 2018 and
February 08, 2019, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued SEC MC
No. 14-2018 and SEC MC No. 3-2019, respectively, providing relief to the real estate industry by
deferring the application of certain provisions of this PIC Q&A for a period of three years until
December 31, 2020. On December 15, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued SEC MC No. 34-2020
which further extended the deferral of certain provisions of this PIC Q&A until December 31,
2023. The PIC Q&A provisions covered by the SEC deferral that the Group availed in 2021
follows:

Deferral Period

Assessing if the transaction price includes a significant financing Until December 31, 2023
component as discussed in PIC Q&A 2018-12-D (as amended by PIC Q&A
2020-04)

As discussed under Changes in Accounting Policies, the Group adopted the provision of PFRS
15 that covered its treatment of land in the determination of POC as discussed in PIC Q&A 2018-
12-E. As allowed under SEC MC No. 34, the Group adopted the change under the modified
restrospective approach.

The SEC Memorandum Circulars also provided the mandatory disclosure requirements should an

entity decide to avail of any relief. Disclosures should include:

a. The accounting policies applied.

b. Discussion of the deferral of the subject implementation issues in the PIC Q&A.

c. Qualitative discussion of the impact on the financial statements had the concerned
application guidelines in the PIC Q&A been adopted.

d. Should any of the deferral options result into a change in accounting policy (e.g., when an
entity excludes land and/or uninstalled materials in the POC calculation under the previous
standard but opted to include such components under the relief provided by the circular),
such accounting change will have to be accounted for under PAS 8, i.e., retrospectively,
together with the corresponding required quantitative disclosures.

After the deferral period, real estate companies would have to adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 and
any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe.

The Group availed of the SEC relief on the accounting for significant financing component of PIC
Q&A No. 2018-12. Had this provision been adopted, the Group assessed that the impact would
have been as follows:

The mismatch between the POC of the real estate projects and right to an amount of
consideration based on the schedule of payments provided for in the contract to sell might
constitute a significant financing component. In case of the presence of significant financing
component, the guidance should have been applied retrospectively and would have resulted in
restatement of prior year financial statements. Adoption of this guidance would have impacted
interest income, interest expense, revenue from real estate sales, installment contracts
receivable, provision for deferred income tax, deferred tax asset or liability for all years presented,
and the opening balance of retained earnings. These would have impacted the cash flows from
operations and cash flows from financing activities for all years presented. The Group believes
that the mismatch for its contract to sell does not constitute a significant financing component
that is material to the Group based on the examples provided in the PIC letter dated

November 11, 2020.
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Current and Noncurrent Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
current/noncurrent classification. An asset is current when it is:

(a) Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

(b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

(c) Expected to be realized within 12 months after reporting date; or

(d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after reporting date.

All other assets are classified as noncurrent.
A liability is current when:

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

It is due to be settled within 12 months after reporting date; or

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
reporting date.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities, respectively.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

¢ In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

¢ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are

categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

e Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

e Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

e Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
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For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties.
Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by corporate finance after discussion with
and approval by the Parent Company’s audit committee. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.

The Group, in conjunction with the external valuers, also compares each of the changes in the fair
value of each asset with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three (3) months or
less from dates of placement and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial Instruments

Date of recognition

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial
position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the settlement date.

Financial assets

Initial recognition of financial instruments
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. The Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables, except for contracts with customers in
residential, commercial and office development receivables, are measured at the transaction price
determined under PFRS 15. Refer to the accounting policies on Revenue from contracts with
customers.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through
OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on
the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at
an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established

by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date,
i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

¢ Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

¢ Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt
instruments)

¢ Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

e Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortized

cost if both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment. Interest income and impairment losses or reversals are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Gains and losses are recognized
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost includes cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and accounts and notes receivables.

Disposal of financial assets at amortized cost

When financial assets at amortized cost are disposed, these are assessed whether the Group is
consistent with its objective of collecting contractual cash flows until maturity. In the event that
disposals have been concluded as infrequent and insignificant, the financial assets continue to be
accounted at amortized cost (see Note 7).

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are

met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the consolidated statement of income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognized in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in
OCl is recycled to profit or loss.

This category includes investment in bonds classified as financial assets at fair value through OCI.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are
recognized as other income in the consolidated statement of income when the right of payment has
been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through OCI includes investments in quoted and unquoted
equity instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortized
cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Investments in Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF), treasury bills and investment in ARCH Capital
Asian Partners L.P. (ARCH Capital Fund) are held for trading and classified as financial assets at
FVPL.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

e The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at

the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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Modification of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated to
the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new asset, with the difference between its carrying amount
and the fair value of the new asset recognized as a derecognition gain or loss in profit or loss, to the
extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded.

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified and the
renegotiation or modification does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset, the Group
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset as the present value of the renegotiated
or modified contractual cash flows discounted at the original EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets) and recognizes a modification gain or loss in
the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix for trade
receivables and a vintage analysis for residential, commercial and office development receivables
that is based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other financial assets such as accrued receivable, receivable from related parties and advances
to other companies, ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. The probability of default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are
considered to be low credit risk investments. It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such
instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from
Standard and Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch to determine whether the debt instrument has
significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is
equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

The key inputs in the model include the Group’s definition of default and historical data of three years
for the origination, maturity date and default date. The Group considers trade receivables in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due, except for certain circumstances when the reason
for being past due is due to reconciliation with customers of payment records which are administrative
in nature which may extend the definition of default to 90 days and beyond. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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Determining the stage for impairment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk for financial assets since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the
expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort for
this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative information and forward-looking analysis.

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due.

An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a subsequent
period, asset quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed significant increase in
credit risk since origination, then the loss allowance measurement reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-
months ECL.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Directly attributable transaction costs are documentary stamp tax, underwriting and selling fees,
regulatory filing fees and other fees.

The Group’s financial liabilities include “Accounts and other payables” (other than “Taxes payable”
which is covered by another accounting standard), “Short-term and long-term debts”, “Deposits and
Other Liabilities” and “Lease liabilities”.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by PFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Only if the criteria in PFRS 9 are satisfied, the designation of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss at the initial date of recognition is allowed. The Group has not designated any financial
liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR
amortization process.
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Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to short term and long term debt.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.

Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position, if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Derivatives

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as non-deliverable forwards, cross currency
swaps, interest rate swaps and principal only swaps contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks and
interest rate risks. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Refundable Deposits
Refundable deposits are measured initially at fair value. After initial recognition, refundable deposits
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The difference between the cash received and its fair value is deferred and amortized using the
straight-line method under the “Real estate revenue” account in the consolidated statement of
income.

Non-refundable deposits that are applicable against costs of services incurred or goods delivered are
measured at fair value.

Concession Receivable

The Group accounts for its concession arrangement with the DOTr under the Financial Asset model
as it has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or other financial asset for its construction
services from or at the direction of the grantor. Under the concession arrangement, the Group is
awarded the right to build and operate an integrated transport terminal for Metro Manila and its
adjacent provinces. The legal title to these assets shall be transferred to the government at the end of
the concession period.

The “Concession Financial Receivable” (shown as part of “Other Noncurrent Assets”) pertains to the
fair value of the Annual Grantor Payment related to the operating and maintenance services and
recovery of construction costs of the terminal facility. These are amortized using the effective interest
rate over the life of the related concession.
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In addition, the Group recognizes and measures construction revenues and costs in accordance with
‘percentage of completion method’. Contract revenue and costs from construction works are
recognized as “Construction Revenue” and “Construction Costs”, respectively, in profit or loss in the
period in which the work is performed.

Inventories

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be
held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and
net realizable value (NRV).

Cost includes:

e Land cost

e Land improvement cost

¢ Amounts paid to contractors for construction and development

¢ Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees, property transfer taxes,
construction overheads and other related costs.

Inventories that are leased out at market rates to earn revenues to partly cover for expenses on the
condition that the intent to sell in the ordinary course of business has not changed are accounted and
presented as inventory. The rent income from inventories that are leased out is included in other
income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

NRYV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs of sale.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are carried at cost less the amortized portion. These typically comprise
prepayments for commissions, marketing fees, advertising and promotions, taxes and licenses, and
insurance.

With the exception of commission which is amortized using percentage of completion, other prepaid
expenses are amortized as incurred.

Input Value-Added Tax (VAT)

Input VAT arises from the purchase of goods and services. These are applied against output VAT.
The remaining balance is recoverable in future periods. These are carried at cost less allowance for
impairment loss, if any. Impairment loss is recognized when input VAT can no longer be recovered.

Materials, Parts and Supplies

Materials, parts and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or NRV. Cost is determined using the
moving average method. NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

An allowance for inventory losses is provided for slow-moving, obsolete and defective materials, parts
and supplies based on management’s physical inspection and evaluation. When inventories are sold,
the cost and related allowance is removed from the account and the difference is charged against
operations.

Advances to Other Companies and Advances to Contractors and Suppliers
Advances to other companies and advances to contractors and suppliers are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures (investee companies) are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and
which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement
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whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, and a joint
venture is a joint arrangement that involves the establishment of a separate entity in which each
venturer has an interest.

An investment is accounted for using the equity method from the day it becomes an associate or joint
venture. On acquisition of investment, the excess of the cost of investment over the investor’s share
in the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is
accounted for as subsumed goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment and not
amortized. Any excess of the investor’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the
carrying amount of the investment, and instead included in the determination of the share in the
earnings of the investees.

Under the equity method, the investments in the investee companies are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share in the net
assets of the investee companies, less any impairment in values. The consolidated statement of
income reflects the share of the results of the operations of the investee companies. The Group’s
share of post-acquisition movements in the investee’s equity reserves is recognized directly in equity.
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the investee companies are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the investee companies and for unrealized losses to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Dividends received are
treated as a reduction of the carrying value of the investment.

The Group discontinues applying the equity method when their investments in investee companies
are reduced to zero. Unless otherwise, additional losses are not recognized when the Group has
guaranteed certain obligations of the investee companies. When the investee companies
subsequently report net income, the Group will resume applying the equity method but only after its
share of that net income equals the share of net losses not recognized during the period the equity
method was suspended.

The reporting dates of the investee companies and the Group are identical and the investee
companies’ accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances.

Upon loss of significant influence over the investee companies, the Group measures and recognizes
any retaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Interest in Joint Operation

Makati Development Corporation (MDC), a subsidiary of the Parent Company, has an interest in joint
arrangement, whereby the parties have a contractual arrangement that establishes joint control. MDC
recognizes its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint operation with
similar items, line by line, in its financial statements.

The financial statements of the joint operation are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of
the Group.

Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise completed property and property under construction or under re-
development that are held to earn rentals or capital appreciation or both and that are not occupied by
the companies in the Group.
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The Group uses the cost model in measuring investment properties since this represents the
historical value of the properties subsequent to initial recognition. Investment properties, except for
land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in
residual value. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value.

Expenditures incurred after the has been put in operation, such as repairs and maintenance costs,
are normally charged against income in the period in which the costs are incurred.

Assets that are under construction are carried at cost (including borrowing costs) and transferred to
the related investment property account when the construction and related activities to prepare the
property for its intended use are complete, and the property is ready for occupation or under the
condition as intended by the Group.

Depreciation of investment properties are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed
periodically to ensure that the period and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of investment properties.

The estimated useful lives of investment properties which comprised of buildings, range from 20-40
years.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal.

A transfer is made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or
development. A transfer is made from investment property when and only when there is a change in
use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a
view to sale. A transfer between investment property, owner-occupied property and inventory does
not change the carrying amount of the property transferred nor does it change the cost of that
property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

The Group discloses the fair values of its investment properties in accordance with PAS 40. The
Group engages independent valuation specialist to assess the fair values as at December 31, 2021
and 2020. The Group’s investment properties consist of land and building pertaining to land
properties, retail (malls) and office properties. These are valued by reference to market-based
evidence using comparable prices adjusted for specific market factors such as nature, location and
condition of the property and income approach by reference to the value of income, cash flow or cost
saving generated by the asset.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, except for land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization and any impairment in value. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value. The
initial cost of property and equipment comprises its construction cost or purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use, including borrowing costs.

Maijor repairs are capitalized as part of property and equipment only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the items can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged against current operations as
incurred.
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Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment commences once the property and
equipment are available for use and are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the property and equipment as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Machinery and construction equipment 5
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10
Transportation equipment 3-5
Hotel property and equipment 20-50

The assets’ residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are
reviewed periodically to ensure that the amounts, periods and method of depreciation and
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and
equipment.

When property and equipment items are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related
accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if any,
are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged against
current operations.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding
capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the consolidated
statement of income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Leasehold rights with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of 20 to 23 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on
intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the
expense category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 intangible asset pertaining to leasehold right is included under
“Other noncurrent assets”.

Buildings Classified as Held for Sale

Buildings classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. These are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when
the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its
present condition. The Group must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method which involves recognizing
and measuring the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of the acquiree are
recognized as of the acquisition date and measured at fair value as at that date. For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition related costs are expensed in the period which the
costs are incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is
deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with PFRS 9 either in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity,
it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain. The
Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure amounts to be recognized at the acquisition
date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to
those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

If the initial accounting for a business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of
the period in which the combination is effected because either the fair values to be assigned to the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities or the cost of the combination can be
determined only provisionally, the acquirer shall account for the combination using those provisional
values. The acquirer shall recognize any adjustments to those provisional values as a result of
completing the initial accounting within twelve (12) months of the acquisition date as follows: (i) the
carrying amount of the identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability that is recognized or adjusted
as a result of completing the initial accounting shall be calculated as if its fair value at the acquisition
date had been recognized from that date; (ii) goodwill or any gain recognized shall be adjusted by an
amount equal to the adjustment to the fair value at the acquisition date of the identifiable asset,
liability or contingent liability being recognized or adjusted; and (iii) comparative information presented



- 26 -

for the period before the initial accounting for the combination is complete shall be presented as if the
initial accounting has been completed from the acquisition date.

Combinations of entities under common control
Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted for using the pooling of
interest method. The pooling of interest method is generally considered to involve the following:

e The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements at their carrying amounts. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or
recognize any new assets or liabilities, at the date of the combination. The only adjustments that
are made are those adjustments to harmonize accounting policies.

¢ No new goodwill is recognized as a result of the combination. The only goodwill that is
recognized is any existing goodwill relating to either of the combining entities. Any difference
between the consideration paid or transferred and the equity acquired is reflected within equity.

e The consolidated statement of income reflects the results of the combining entities for the full
year, irrespective of when the combination took place.

o Comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined.

The effects of intercompany transactions on current assets, current liabilities, revenues, and cost of
sales for the current period presented and on retained earnings at the beginning of the current period
presented are eliminated to the extent possible.

Asset Acquisitions

If the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition transaction do not constitute a
business as defined under PFRS 3, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. The
Group identifies and recognizes the individual identifiable assets acquired (including those assets that
meet the definition of, and recognition criteria for, intangible assets) and liabilities assumed. The
acquisition cost is allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such transaction or event does not give rise to goodwill.
Where the Group acquires a controlling interest in an entity that is not a business, but obtains less
than 100% of the entity, after it has allocated the cost to the individual assets acquired, it notionally
grosses up those assets and recognizes the difference as non-controlling interests.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired (e.g. investments in associates and joint ventures, investment properties, property and
equipment and right-of-use assets). If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’'s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are
recognized in the consolidated statement of income in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is
any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If such is
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal
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is recognized in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount,
in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such reversal, the depreciation
and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount,
less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific assets:

Investments in associates and joint ventures

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any
additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the investee companies. The
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment
in associates or joint ventures is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying value of the
investee company and recognizes the difference in the consolidated statement of income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. If the effect of the time value of
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognized as interest expense. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Pension Cost

Pension cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. This method reflects
services rendered by employees up to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning
employees’ projected salaries. Actuarial valuations are conducted with sufficient regularity, with
option to accelerate when significant changes to underlying assumptions occur. Pension cost
includes: a) service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, b) gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements, and c) net interest cost on benefit obligation.

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains or losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding
net interest cost and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognized immediately in
the consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to OCI in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less fair value
of the plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by using risk-free interest rates of long-term government bonds that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liabilities or applying a single weighted
average discount rate that reflects the estimated timing and amount of benefit payments.

Share-based Payments
The Group has equity-settled, share-based compensation plans with its employees.

PFRS 2 Options

For options granted after November 7, 2002 that have not vested on or before January 1, 2005, the
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model, further
details of which are given in Note 28.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (vesting date). The cumulative expense
recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instrument that will ultimately vest. The income or expense for a period represents the movement in
cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognized.

In addition, an expense is recognized for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the
modification, as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it
is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the
award is recognized immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

Pre-PFRS 2 Options
For options granted before November 7, 2002 that has vested before January 1, 2005, the intrinsic
value of stock options determined as of grant date is recognized as expense over the vesting period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
diluted earnings per share (see Note 28).

Employee Stock Ownership Plan

The Parent Company has an employee stock ownership plan (ESOWN) which allows the grantees to
purchase the Parent Company’s shares. The Parent Company recognizes stock compensation
expense over the holding period. The Parent Company treats its ESOWN plan as option exercisable
within a given period. These are accounted for similar to the PFRS 2 options. Dividends paid on the
awards that have vested are deducted from equity and those paid on awards that are unvested are
charged to profit or loss. For the unsubscribed shares where the employees still have the option to
subscribe in the future, these are accounted for as options.

Equity

When the shares are sold at a premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par value is
credited to “Additional paid-in capital” account. Direct costs incurred related to equity issuance are
chargeable to “Additional paid-in capital” account. If additional paid-in capital is not sufficient, the
excess is charged against retained earnings. When the Group issues more than one class of stock, a
separate account is maintained for each class of stock and the number of shares issued.

Subscriptions receivable pertains to the uncollected portion of the subscribed shares.
Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Group less dividends declared.

Equity reserves pertain to the excess of the cost of business combinations over the net carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquired companies. Changes in a parent’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e., transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). In such circumstances, the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests shall be adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid shall be recognized
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directly in equity and included under “Equity reserves” account in the equity section of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognized at cost and deducted
from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Parent Company’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in additional paid-in capital. Voting rights
related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them
respectively. When the shares are retired, the capital stock account is reduced by its par value and
the excess of cost over par value upon retirement is debited to additional paid-in capital when the
shares were issued and to retained earnings for the remaining balance.

Revenue from Contract with Customers

The Group primarily derives its real estate revenue from the sale of vertical and horizontal real estate
projects. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services
are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Except for the provisioning of water,
electricity, air-conditioning and common use service area in its mall retail spaces, wherein it is acting
as agent, the Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

The disclosures of significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue
from contracts with customers are provided in Note 3.

Real estate sales

The Group derives its real estate revenue from sale of lots, house and lot and condominium units.
Revenue from the sale of these real estate projects under pre-completion stage are recognized over
time during the construction period (or percentage of completion) since based on the terms and
conditions of its contract with the buyers, the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output method.
The Group recognizes revenue and the related trade receivables on the basis of direct
measurements of the value to customers of the goods or services transferred to date, relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract. Progress is measured using survey of
performance completed to date. This is based on the monthly project accomplishment report
prepared by the third party surveyor as approved by the construction manager which integrates the
surveys of performance to date of the construction activities for both sub-contracted and those that
are fulfilled by the developer itself.

Any excess of progress of work over the right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, is
recognized as trade receivables under residential and office development receivables account. Any
excess of collections over the total of recognized trade receivables is included in the “customer’s
deposit” account in the liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position. The
impact of the significant financing component on the transaction price has not been considered since
the Group availed of the relief granted by the SEC under Memorandum Circular No. 34, which has
been extended until December 31, 2023.

Cost recognition

The Group recognizes costs relating to satisfied performance obligations as these are incurred taking
into consideration the contract fulfillment assets such as connection fees. These include costs of
land, land development costs, building costs, professional fees, depreciation, permits and licenses.
These costs are allocated to the saleable area, with the portion allocable to the sold area being
recognized as costs of sales while the portion allocable to the unsold area being recognized as part of
real estate inventories.
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Contract costs include all direct materials and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract
performance. Expected losses on contracts are recognized immediately when it is probable that the
total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. Changes in contract performance, contract
conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions, and
final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins are
recognized in the year in which the changes are determined.

Marketing fees, management fees from administration and property management are recognized as
expense when services are incurred.

Hotel and resorts revenue (part of real estate sales in the consolidated statement of income)

The Group recognizes room accommodation services over time since the guest simultaneously
receives and consumes the services provided by the Group. The Group considers whether there are
other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the
transaction price needs to be allocated. Revenue from banquets and other special events are
recognized when the events take place.

Cost of hotel operations (part of cost of real estate sales in the consolidated statement of income)
Cost of hotel operations pertains to expenses incurred in relation to sale of goods and rendering of
services. These are recognized when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease
in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen than can be measured reliably. These are
recognized when incurred and measured at the amount paid or payable.

Construction revenue (part of real estate sales in the consolidated statement of income) and cost
Revenue from fixed price construction contracts are recognized over time using the milestone-based
revenue recognition which is in reference to the output method. The output method is determined
based on the start and completion of a task of the contract work inclusive of uninstalled goods and
materials delivered to the site.

Contract costs include all direct materials and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract
performance. Expected losses on contracts are recognized immediately when it is probable that the
total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. Changes in contract performance, contract
conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions, and
final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins are
recognized in the year in which the changes are determined.

Rental income (part of real estate sales in the consolidated statement of income)

Rental income under noncancellable and cancellable leases on investment properties is recognized
in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the terms of
the lease, respectively, and/or based on a certain percentage of the gross revenue of the tenants, as
provided under the terms of the lease contract.

No rental income is recognized when the Group waives its right to collect rent and other charges. This
is recognized as a rent concession and reported as a variable payment (see Note 33).

Rooms revenue from hotel and resort operations is recognized when the services are rendered.
Revenue from banquets and other special events are recognized when the events take place.

Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.

Common usage service area (CUSA) charges
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The contract for the commercial spaces leased out by the Group to its tenants includes the right to
charge for the electricity usage, water usage, air-conditioning charges and CUSA like maintenance,
janitorial and security services.

For the electricity and water usage, the Group determined that it is acting as an agent because the
promise of the Group to the tenants is to arrange for the electricity and water supply to be provided by
a utility company. The utility and service companies, and not the Group, are primarily responsible for
the provisioning of the utilities while the Group administers the leased spaces and coordinates with
the utility and service companies to ensure that tenants have access to these utilities.

For the provision of CUSA and air-conditioning of the Buildings, the Group acts as a principal
because it retains the right to direct the service provider of air-conditioning, maintenance, janitorial
and security to the leased premises. The right to the services mentioned never transfers to the tenant
and the Group has the discretion on how to price the CUSA and air-conditioning charges.

Customers’ deposit

Customers’ deposit is a contract liability which is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the
customer, a customers’ deposit is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Customers’ deposit are recognized as revenue when the control of the goods
or services are transferred to the customers by the Group which is essentially fulfillment of its
performance obligation under the contract.

Customers’ deposit also include payments received by the Group from the customers for which
revenue recognition has not yet commenced.

Costs to obtain contract

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are recognized as an asset if the Group
expects to recover them. The Group has determined that commissions paid to brokers and marketing
agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units are deferred when recovery is reasonably
expected and are charged to expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized as
earned. Commission expense is included in the “Real estate costs and expenses” account in the
consolidated statement of income.

Costs incurred prior to obtaining contract with customer are not capitalized but are expensed as
incurred.

Amortization, de-recognition and impairment of capitalized costs to obtain a contract

Following the pattern of real estate revenue recognition, the Group amortizes capitalized costs to
obtain a contract to cost of sales over the expected construction period using percentage of
completion. The amortization is included within cost of sales.

A capitalized cost to obtain a contract is derecognized either when it is disposed of or when no further
economic benefits are expected to flow from its use or disposal.

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is an indication that cost to obtain a
contract maybe impaired. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate by comparing the
carrying amount of the assets to the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive less the costs that relate to providing services under the relevant contract. In determining the
estimated amount of consideration, the Group uses the same principles as it does to determine the
contract transaction price, except that any constraints used to reduce the transaction price is removed
for the impairment test.
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Where the relevant costs or specific performance obligations are demonstrating marginal profitability
or other indicators of impairment, judgement is required in ascertaining whether or not the future
economic benefits from these contracts are sufficient to recover these assets. In performing this
impairment assessment, management is required to make an assessment of the costs to complete
the contract. The ability to accurately forecast such costs involves estimates around cost savings to
be achieved over time, anticipated profitability of the contract, as well as future performance against
any contract-specific performance indicators that could trigger variable consideration, or service
credits. Where a contract is anticipated to make a loss, these judgements are also relevant in
determining whether or not an onerous contract provision is required and how this is to be measured.

Expense Recognition

Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when decrease in future economic
benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured
reliably.

Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as follow:

¢ On the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items
of income;

¢ On the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are
expected to arise ov